STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 31 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Marion County

Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

RICHARD A. WOODBURY,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000121

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I.

Did the PCR court err in finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel when counsel failed to object to the trial court charging the jury on mutual combat where there was insufficient evidence in the record to support the charge?

II.

In the alternative, if this Court finds that the record supported the mutual combat charge, did the PCR court err in finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to object to the mutual combat charge being given as part of the charge on self-defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Petitioner was indicted during the February 2013 term of the Marion County grand jury for one count of murder and one count of attempted murder. App. 691-692. On February 18, 2014, the State called the case to trial before Honorable D. Craig Brown and a jury. The State was represented by Edgard Clements, III, and Petitioner was represented by Ralph J. Wilson, Sr. App. 1. At the conclusion of the four-day trial, the jury acquitted Petitioner of murder, attempted murder, and the lesser included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). The jury found Petitioner guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. App. 675, l. 12-App. 676, l. 2. Judge Brown sentenced Petitioner to thirty years imprisonment. App. 689.

Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentence. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction on March 2, 2016. State v. Woodbury, Op. No. 2016-UP-111 (S.C. Ct. App. 2016). Petitioner filed a *pro se* application for post-conviction relief on March 15, 2016. App. 694-702. The State filed a return dated February 2, 2017. App. 703-707. PCR Counsel Jonathan Waller filed a motion for discovery on November 13, 2017, which was granted by the Honorable Michael G. Nettles on May 7, 2018. App. 708-711. Counsel Waller filed an amended PCR application on June 18, 2019, raising fourteen grounds of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and one ground of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. App. 712-714.

An evidentiary hearing was convened before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., on June 26, 2019. Petitioner was represented by Counsel Waller. The State was represented by Samuel Key. App. 715. An order of dismissal was signed by Judge Seals on July 17, 2022, finding Petitioner had failed to prove any of the grounds alleged for ineffective assistance of

counsel. App. 791-825. Counsel Waller timely filed a motion to alter or amend the PCR court's order pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. App. 826-831. The State filed a return to the Rule 59(e) motion dated October 9, 2022. App. 831-840. No hearing was held on the Rule 59(e) motion. An order denying Petitioner's Rule 59(e) was signed by Judge Seals on December 21, 2022. App. 841-844.

Summary of Trial Testimony

During the evening hours of September 29, 2012, Charles Wilson was at his home on South Withlacoochee Avenue in Marion County with the decedent, Ian Gause, Ian's brother Rishawn Gause, the Gause brothers' cousin, Ronnie Boatwright, and Tywana Grisham. The men were outside underneath the carport drinking, downloading music on a laptop computer, and burning CDs. App. 297, ll. 14-25; App. 324, ll. 8-12; App. 385, l. 24-App. 386, l. 10; App. 387, ll. 6-12; App. 408, ll. 14-25. The men were sitting around a table in the back of the carport, near the backyard, and a van was parked in front of them, partially covered by the carport. App. 318, ll. 8-17; App. 386, l. 21-App. 387, l. 3.

At some point during the evening, Petitioner arrived at Wilson's home in his black Jeep Cherokee with Ky Graham and Lamont Davis. Graham got out of the car first and greeted the men under the carport.¹ App. 298, ll. 2-25. Shortly thereafter, Petitioner also got out of the car and approached the men. Petitioner greeted everyone, but apparently did not individually acknowledge Ian, the decedent. Wilson testified that he had no idea why Petitioner did not greet Ian. App. 299, ll. 6-14.

¹ There were allegations at trial that Ky Graham went to the home to purchase marijuana. While Graham initially denied buying any drugs that night, he later admitted that he "bought one." App. 451, ll. 17-22.

According to Wilson, angered that he was ignored, Ian said to Petitioner, “you don’t see me, or something like that.” App. 299, ll. 15-17. Rather than argue with Ian, Petitioner walked away “back towards the Jeep,” that was parked in the driveway directly behind the van. App. 299, l. 18-App. 300, l. 8. Ian followed Petitioner and the two met by the side of Petitioner’s Jeep. App. 300, ll. 9-23. Then there was “a lot of trash talking.” App. 300, l. 24-App. 301, l. 5.

Wilson testified that he got in between Petitioner and Ian and told Petitioner “to go ahead and leave,” but the two were “still back and forth talking trash to each other.” App. 301, l. 9-App. 302, l. 3. Ian tried “to actually break passed” Wilson, but Wilson stuck his hands out to block Ian from reaching Petitioner. At this stage, the verbal argument “was real heated,” but Wilson had no “idea what it was about.” Wilson then “kind of turn[ed] around” and “almost start[ed] to wrestle [Ian].” “That’s when [Wilson] noticed [Ian] had a gun.” “He had it by his side.” App. 302, ll. 5-25

When Wilson noticed that Ian had a gun he moved out of the way because he did not want to get shot. After he backed away, Wilson heard a single gunshot. He did not know who fired the shot, but later heard it was Rishawn. He assumed Rishawn fired into the air. After the gunshot, “[e]verybody like froze.” App. 303, l. 11- App. 304, l. 25.

According to Wilson, Petitioner, who was still standing by his car, started “talking some more junk.” The men continued “talking trash.” App. 305, ll. 1-15. Somehow, Ian and Petitioner ended up in the road. They were “face to face talking to each other,” but they did not “start fighting” and neither threw any punches. App. 305, l. 25-App. 306, l. 6. Then all of a sudden Petitioner and Ian took off running. App. 306, ll. 13-19. They ran back towards the house and ended up under the carport. App. 306, l. 23-App. 307, l. 6.

Wilson could not see what happened under the carport because it was dark and the van was blocking his view. He “heard like chairs and stuff moving around” and “tussling.” App. 307, ll. 4-

23. “After that, after the tussling and stuff was over somebody shot [ran] through the backyard, and that’s when I see Ian coming back from underneath the car shed.” Ian told his brother, Rishawn, that he needed to go to the hospital and “he said something about, I should have shot him, or something like that.” App. 307, l. 25-App. 308, l. 22. Rishawn also said he “got cut” and the Gause brothers left to go to the hospital. App. 309, ll. 1-9.

Wilson testified that Petitioner eventually returned from the backyard and said, “he left something.” He claimed Petitioner picked up one half of “a bamboo stick thing” that turned out to be a knife.² App. 309, l. 10-App. 310, l. 13. This was the first time Wilson had seen Petitioner with a weapon. He never saw Petitioner with a weapon in the driveway or in the road before the men ran under the carport. App. 326, l. 19-App. 327, l. 8. After retrieving the knife, Petitioner left with Ky Graham. App. 310, ll. 14-20.

Rishawn Gause, Ian’s brother who was noticeably biased in favor of his brother, testified that he was at Wilson’s house that evening with Ian and Boatwright. He claimed that when Petitioner walked up to the carport, he shook hands with every one, except he “purposely . . . did not shake my brother[’s] hand, Ian.” Ian “had a smirk” and said, “[O]h, so you can’t shake my hand?” App. 482, l. 9-App. 483, l. 17. Petitioner said something in return and then walked away back towards his car. He and Graham both got into the car. Tr. 483, ll. 17-25. Rishawn was the only witness who claimed Petitioner pulled out of the driveway and left, but returned about three minutes later. App. 483, l. 25-App. 484, l. 7.

² When law enforcement searched Petitioner’s Jeep several hours after the altercation pursuant to a search warrant, they found a “Ninja sword” or knife used in marital arts. See App. 260, ll. 19-20; App. 437, ll. 18-25; see also App. 440, l. 6. It was “a long cylinder that when you actually pull it apart two blades are housed inside.” App. 263, ll. 21-23. When the blades are “removed from each other” they become “two separate weapons.” App. 264, ll. 2-10.

According to Rishawn, when Petitioner returned, he got out of the car and “was messing with his pants so Ian said, oh, oh, you went and got something. He said, you went and got something.” Rishawn claimed that he and Ian were still under the carport and that Ian never went up to the Jeep. App. 486, ll. 7-23. Rishawn then walked to his own car that was parked in the yard and got his gun from the trunk because he saw Petitioner “fidgeting with something.” He “was watching the whole situation” and eventually shot once into the air because they [Ian and Petitioner] were “kind of about to get into it.” App. 487, ll. 4-10.

Rishawn claimed that after he fired once into the air, he put his gun back into the trunk. He claimed to hear Petitioner say that he “didn’t have nothing” and was telling Ian he would “fight.” App. 489, ll. 9-25. He also claimed that he did not see Ian with a gun that night and that he knew Ian was not fighting with a gun in his hand, but he could not definitively say that Ian did not have a gun that night. App. 490, ll. 6-15. Eventually, Ian and Petitioner got into a “brawl” under the carport. Rishawn testified that he got in the middle of the altercation and Petitioner was “[s]winging wild.” App. 490, ll. 17-24. Ian eventually said that he had been stabbed and that he needed to go to the hospital. After Ian said he had been stabbed, Petitioner ran into the backyard. App. 492, ll. 5-25.

At the hospital, Rishawn spoke with three different law enforcement officers. He gave a different story to each of the officers. For example, he told one officer that he was in the house when the altercation took place and that he did not know who stabbed his brother. He told a different officer that the altercation happened on Huggins Street, not South Withlacoochee Avenue, and that they had not been at anyone’s house. Rishawn admitted on cross-examination that he was a liar and “whatever I told when I was at the hospital was, it was garbage.” App. 500, l. 22-App. 506, l. 11.

Ronnie Boatwright, who was also noticeably biased in favor of his cousins, testified that when Petitioner arrived at the residence that night he walked to the carport and “spoke to everybody.”³ App. 389, ll. 11-21; App. 403, ll. 11-25. Petitioner and Ian then “got into it” and were “running their mouths.” App. 389, l. 15-App. 390, l. 4; App. 411, ll. 18-25. Boatwright claimed Petitioner walked backed to his Jeep and then returned to the carport where he and Ian started “fussing again.” He claimed that the next thing he knew, Petitioner “was holding like something on his side” and Ian repeatedly said, “you got something, you got something.” Rishawn then went to his car, got a pistol, and shot into the air. After the gunshot, everyone “calmed down” for a couple of seconds to minutes. App. 390, l. 6-App. 391, l. 17.

Boatwright explained, “[s]o after that I don’t know what happened then. Just everybody end up in the road after that. Next thing I know people just took off running, took off running, ran in the car porch.” App. 392, ll. 3-6. On cross-examination, Boatwright admitted that Ian chased Petitioner into the road and then Ian and Rishawn chased Petitioner under the carport. App. 414, l. 12-App. 415, l. 5. He clarified that the only people who ran under the carport were Petitioner, Ian, and his brother, Rishawn. App. 392, ll. 8-9. Boatwright continued, “Probably like about five minutes [later] Ian came back out [from under the carport] and he said, man, I got stabbed, he stabbed me. Rishawn [also] came [out from under the carport], he said, he stabbed me too.” Ian and Rishawn then left for the hospital. App. 392, ll. 10-16. Boatwright testified that after about ten or twenty minutes, Petitioner “came back looking for his knife. He found his knife and he went on.” Boatwright explained that he saw the knife after the fight when it was laying on the ground in the

³ Boatwright was impeached with his prior convictions for safecracking, giving false information to law enforcement, breaking and entering into an automobile, and possession of a controlled substance. App. 401, ll. 10-21.

carport. He claimed Petitioner had one half of the weapon in his hand and picked up the other half from the ground near the carport. App. 392, l. 17-App. 393, l. 15.

Boatwright also explained that when the men were drinking and downloading music, the light under the carport was on. However, once Petitioner, Ian, and Rishawn ran under the carport during the altercation, “somebody cut the light off.” He said he thought Tywana Grisham turned the light off when Petitioner, Ian, and Rishawn were running because Grisham, who was standing under the carport at the time, “probably got scared and ran in the house and cut the light off trying to keep the heat down.” App. 394, ll. 5-25. Because it was so dark and the van was blocking his view, Boatwright could not see what happened under the carport. He explained, “I ain’t even see the stabbing.” All he knew was that “they were fighting” and “it was kind of chaos.” App. 395, ll. 1-15. Lastly, Boatwright claimed that the only person he saw with a firearm that night was Rishawn. He claimed he did not see Ian with a gun and did not see anyone else with a weapon. App. 399, ll. 6-25; App. 419, ll. 9-24.

Ky Graham testified that he went to Charles Wilson’s house on the night of September 29, 2012, with Petitioner and Lamont Davis. Petitioner was driving his black Jeep Cherokee. App. 429, l. 8-App. 430, l. 15. When they got to Wilson’s house, they parked in the driveway directly behind the van. App. 431, ll. 1-17. Graham got out of the car first, walked over to the carport, and “spoke to everybody.” App. 433, ll. 2-4. Petitioner also “got out [of the car] after a while” and greeted the men. App. 433, l. 16-App. 434, l. 4. According to Graham, Petitioner and Ian then “had a little words” and it was “a little heated.” App. 434, ll. 5-22. Ian “took offense” when Petitioner did not greet him. App. 453, ll. 10-21. Graham said he was not aware of “any trouble” between Ian and Petitioner in the past and had no idea why they exchanged words that night. App. 434, ll. 10-

14. Petitioner eventually walked away and went back to his Jeep. Graham followed and both men got back into the car. App. 435, ll. 3-9

Graham testified that when they were in the car, Petitioner retrieved his knife and “Ian was saying a little something.” App. 435, l. 24 – 436, l. 24. Petitioner concealed the knife in his pocket and no one could see that he had a weapon. App. 456, ll. 5-23. Petitioner and Ian “were having a few words” by the side of the car. Wilson got in between the two men and was holding Ian back. App. 438, ll. 7-22. According to Graham, Petitioner then pulled out his “sword,” but did not pull the two ends apart. The weapon remained closed. Graham claimed that after Petitioner pulled out his closed sword, Ian pulled out his gun and had it down by his side. App. 440, ll. 6-21. Rishawn then shot once into the air to try “to break everything up.” App. 440, l. 22 – 442, l. 13.

Graham then explained that “Ian had Richard [Petitioner] go down the street, you know, pointing the gun at him.” Ian and Rishawn both had their guns out and all three men, Petitioner, Ian, and Rishawn, ran towards the carport. App. 442, l. 18-App. 443, l. 1. When they got to the carport, the light went out, but he “didn’t see nobody turn the light out.” Graham could not see what happened under the carport because it was dark and the van was blocking his view, but he could hear “fighting and stuff.” He said he did not try to break up the altercation because “they [Ian and Rishawn] had guns on them.” App. 444, ll. 4-21. “[A]fter a while,” Graham thought he heard Ian say something to Rishawn and then the two left. App. 445, ll. 1-19. According to Graham, Petitioner then came out from around the back of the house. He “had one of his knives” and the other one “was on the ground in front of the car porch.” App. 445, l. 20 – 446, l. 9. After retrieving his knife, Graham and Petitioner left.

Nicholas Batalis, the forensic pathologist who conducted the autopsy, testified that Ian died from “a stab wound to the upper left side of the chest centered right on the left nipple.” The wound

was about five and a half inches deep and went through the muscle in the chest and “the sack that wraps around the heart, and then struck “one of the big blood vessels that drains blood back to the body.” Put more simply, Ian bled to death. App. 348, ll. 2-18. He also had a wound to the upper right chest that was about half an inch deep, a minor cut on his right wrist, and a scrape on his left thumb. App. 347, l. 11-App. 348, l. 1; App. 349, l. 20-App. 350, l. 4.

During Petitioner’s case in chief, his nephew, Robert Woodbury, testified that he collects samurai swords, medieval swords, and ninja swords and that he originally owned the “ninja sword” that Petitioner used during the altercation. App. 562, ll. 5-22. About two years ago, Robert gave the sword to Petitioner who “was gonna use it as decoration.” App. 563, l. 22-App. 564, l. 6.

Rosa Carmichael, who also testified during Petitioner’s case in chief, explained that Wilson’s house on South Withlacoochee Avenue is directly behind her house on Dunlop Street. App. 565, ll. 22-25. On the night of September 29, 2012, she was at home when she heard “someone behind my house . . . getting beat up and there were gun shots.” She heard four gunshots and called 9-1-1. App. 566, ll. 1-17. The only thing she saw were “shadows when they were coming back up towards the carport, okay, because all of a sudden the light went out. As soon as the argument really got started it went dark.” App. 566, l. 20-App. 567, l. 1. She explained further, “And I could see some shadows but . . . the closer they got back toward the house the less I could see. And I heard somebody say, well man, what you doing, I don’t have a knife. Then so I heard him getting all beat up and I heard somebody say, well how you like that now, how you like that now, then I heard something go pow, pow, pow. So I just put the window down and called 9-1-1.” App. 567, ll. 3-10. Despite giving the 9-1-1 dispatcher her name and address, she was never contacted by law enforcement. App. 567, l. 20 – 568, l. 2.

Jury Charge

During the discussion on jury instructions, the State requested the court charge the jury on mutual combat. App. 570, l. 19-App. 571, l. 12. The State initially suggested that the court should not charge both mutual combat and self-defense. Counsel Wilson argued that unless the court found as a matter of law that it was mutual combat then both charges should be submitted to the jury. The State agreed stating it would be satisfied if the court charged that if the jury found the parties entered into mutual combat, then self-defense would not apply. Counsel Wilson then stated, “[b]ut I’m not agreeing that mutual combat should be charged. That’s not what I’m agreeing to, I’m just saying.” App. 574, l. 16-App. 575, l. 20. At no point did Counsel Wilson formally object to the court giving the mutual combat charge.

During the jury charge the court instructed the jury on self-defense and mutual combat as follows:

Now the **following elements are required to establish self-defense**. First the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. If the defendant’s conduct was the type which was reasonably calculated to and did provoke a deadly assault, the defendant would be at fault in bringing on the difficulty and would not be entitled to an acquittal based on self-defense. **If the defendant voluntarily participated in mutual combat for purposes other than protection, the killing of the victim would not be self-defense. This is true even if during the combat the defendant feared death or serious bodily injury. However, if before the killing is committed the defendant withdraws and tried in good faith to avoid further conflict and either by word or act makes that fact known to the victim, he would be without fault on bringing on the difficulty. Now for mutual combat there must be mutual intent and willingness to fight. This intent may be shown by the acts and conduct on the parties and the circumstances surrounding the combat. In addition, it must be shown that both parties were armed with deadly weapon, with a deadly weapon.**

Now the **second element of self-defense** is that the defendant was actually in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury or the defendant actually believed he was in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury. If the defendant was actually in imminent danger, it might be shown that the circumstances would have warranted a person of ordinary firmness and courage to

strike the fatal blow to prevent death or serious bodily injury. If the defendant believed he was in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury it must be shown that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have had the same belief. In deciding whether the defendant actually was or believed he was in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury, you should consider all the facts and circumstances surrounding the crime including the physical condition and characteristics of the defendant and the victim.

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