STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Dec 15 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Marion County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Trial Judge
Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000121

RICHARD A. WOODBURY, SCDC # 358878,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

armed, and there was no pre-existing ill will between the parties. Id. at 234, 589 S.E.2d at 5.

In the case *sub judice*, Woodbury asserts there was no evidence of pre-existing ill will or conflict and relates the September 29, 2012, events as one continuous altercation. This assertion ignores the uncontroverted testimony of four eyewitnesses indicating there was an initial verbal confrontation, which ended when Woodbury left.

Woodbury's case is more akin to State v. Graham, 206 S.C. 449, 196 S.E.2d 495 (1973). In Graham, the testimony established the defendant and victim "met in town shortly before the shooting and engaged in a heated discussion, during which appellant waved a pistol in the face of the deceased." 260 S.C. at 451, 196 S.E.2d at 496. Thereafter, the victim drove home, retrieved a pistol, and drove back to the scene with the pistol in his hand. Id. As the victim exited his vehicle, the defendant "walked into the street, placing himself in a position where an encounter with the deceased could be expected." Id. In affirming the trial court's decision to give a mutual consent combat charge, the Supreme Court found "there was ill-will between the parties," it was inferable they armed themselves to settle their differences at gunpoint, and they were engaged in mutual combat at the time of the killing. Id. at 496.

This case is factually similar to Graham. Contrary to Woodbury's assertion, there was evidence of some animosity between Woodbury and Ian prior to the day of Ian's death. In furtherance of his supposition, Woodbury concludes that the record indicates Woodbury and Rishawn were "cool." However, Rishawn's testimony was not as precise as Woodbury would have this Court believe; rather, Rishawn testified that Woodbury and Ian "[were] cool at one point." (App. p. 485). The inference from this testimony and Rishawn's prior and latter testimony is that the two were cool at one point, but that night, they were not so cool because they argued during

their initial encounter under the carport. (App. pp. 477-86).²

Also, contrary to Woodbury's assertion, the record does not conclusively provide that Woodbury and Ian got into it *solely* because Woodbury did not shake Ian's hand when he arrived. While it is true that the testimony Woodbury cites—implies that Woodbury's not acknowledging Ian was a predicate to the confrontation—the record is not so clear that this was the only reason Woodbury and Ian had a confrontation. In any event, the record does provide that after the first confrontation, Woodbury removed himself from the situation. Again, the testimony is conflicting, as Wilson testified Woodbury ran down the street, but Rishawn testified that Woodbury drove away and returned a few minutes later. (App. p. 306; pp. 483-86). Boatwright testified that Woodbury and Ian got into it, left, returned, and got into it again with Ian. (App. pp. 389-90). The consistency between the testimony of the witnesses is that Woodbury left and returned; however, this time, he was armed with a weapon. Thus, just as in Graham, Woodbury created a situation where an encounter could be expected.

The jury could infer from the evidence presented that Woodbury and Ian had a pre-existing ill-will or conflict prior to the night of September 29, 2012, and certainly prior to the second altercation. Thus, the PCR court correctly found there was evidence to support a finding of pre-existing ill-will or conflict.

Next, Woodbury avers there was no antecedent agreement to fight between Woodbury and Ian. Again, Woodbury asserts that there was no previous argument when the record provides that

² Testimony from Wilson, Boatwright, and Graham confirmed that Ian and Woodbury got into an argument when Woodbury arrived. (App. pp. 299-301; 388-89; 434). Interestingly, none of these witnesses would identify exactly why the exchange between Woodbury and Ian became so heated and confrontational in the first encounter. While some provided testimony about Woodbury not acknowledging Ian, no one testified as to what the two were arguing about in the first altercation. (App. pp. 302; 388-89; 434).

there were two separate altercations between Woodbury and Ian; thus, the prior argument is the first altercation that night. Rishawn testified that Woodbury left and returned to the property minutes later, and Ian said, "You went and got something." (App. p. 486). Rishawn testified that Woodbury kept messing with his pants, and after he fired the first shot, Woodbury still "stood right there holding like to his pants like, 'I ain't going nowhere.'" (App. p. 500). Rishawn also testified that he thought Woodbury had a weapon, but Woodbury said he did not, and then Woodbury stated he would "fight [Ian]." (App. pp. 489-90).

Contrary to Woodbury's assertion that "no one, much less Ian, saw that Woodbury had retrieved a weapon," Graham actually testified that Woodbury took the sheathed sword out of his pants and brandished it while Ian brandished his gun. (App. pp. 437-40; pp. 454-57). Further, there was testimony that Woodbury and Ian were "nose to nose," "bowed up" in each other's face, and "trying to get at each other." (App. p. 302; p. 306; p. 521).

The record reveals that Woodbury and Ian had a mutual intent and willingness to fight, thereby supporting a mutual combat jury instruction. While there may not have been intent and willingness during the first verbal altercation, the situation clearly changed after Woodbury left, retrieved his weapon from the vehicle, and initiated the second altercation, which quickly turned physical and violent.

Moreover, Woodbury avers that the testimony is contradictory as to whether Woodbury and Ian both knew the other was armed at the time of the fight. However, the standard is not whether the evidence presented was uncontradicted to support a jury charge, it is the existence of the evidence, and, in this case, there certainly was such evidence. Any issues with contradictory issues are for the jury to resolve and have no bearing on whether to give a jury instruction.

The evidence presented indicates Ian knew Woodbury had retrieved something from his

car because he pulled out his gun in response. (App. p. 486). Boatwright testified to the same, seeing something at Woodbury's side. (App. pp. 384-90). Graham testified that Woodbury got his sword before Ian drew the gun. (App. p. 436; p. 447). Wilson testified that he saw Ian with a gun. (App. p. 440). Given the uniqueness of Woodbury's weapon, Ian may not have known exactly what type of weapon Woodbury retrieved—but given their close proximity and his reaction, it was clear Ian knew Woodbury had a weapon. Thus, as in Graham, there was ample evidence presented from which the jury could infer Woodbury and Ian knew each other was armed.

Lastly, Woodbury contends that trial counsel's failure to object was not reasonable and that he offered no valid reason for not objecting. Contrary to this assertion, trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he was familiar with the charge, believed it was appropriate under the facts, and that there was ample evidence to support the charge. The PCR court correctly agreed.

Woodbury has failed to prove trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief, and this Court should deny certiorari.

II. The post-conviction relief court properly found Woodbury failed to meet his burden of establishing any constitutional ineffectiveness based on counsel's purported failure to object to the trial court's jury instruction on mutual combat in conjunction with an instruction on self-defense where the jury charge was proper as given because mutual combat relates primarily to the 'no-fault' element of the law of self-defense.

Next, Woodbury also argues that the post-conviction relief court improperly denied relief because trial counsel was also deficient for failing to object to the trial court's mutual combat jury instruction as being improperly given alongside a properly given self-defense instruction. Specifically, Woodbury argues trial counsel was deficient because the mutual combat jury instruction was antagonistic to and weakened the self-defense instruction given in violation of

Taylor. Woodbury further argues he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to object on this ground because the mutual combat instruction only served to confuse the jury regarding the meaning of self-defense and impermissibly shifted the burden of proof. However, Woodbury was not prejudiced because the trial court's jury instruction on mutual combat in conjunction with the instruction on self-defense was proper as given because mutual combat relates primarily to the 'no-fault' element of the law of self-defense. Therefore, the record and case law support the jury instructions as given. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief, and this Court should deny certiorari.

During a charge conference, the State requested a mutual combat jury charge, and trial counsel stated if mutual combat was charged, self-defense should also be charged, "and then the jury would decide whether or not if there's a case made out for mutual combat, whether or not it can go to self-defense." After the State agreed, trial counsel stated, "I'm not agreeing that mutual combat should be charged," but if the trial court was inclined to give an instruction on mutual combat, he also wanted the jury to be instructed on self-defense. (App. pp. 574-75).

The trial court provided the State and trial counsel its proposed jury instructions to review overnight. When the charge conference resumed the following day, trial counsel requested charges on prior inconsistent statements, spoliation of evidence, involuntary manslaughter, voluntary intoxication, the right to act on appearances, the difference in size and age, no duty to retreat if doing so would increase the danger of being killed or harmed, and if the actions are justified by self-defense or defense of others, the person is justified in continuing the actions until the danger has completely ended. The trial court agreed to instruct the jury regarding prior inconsistent statements, the right to act on appearances, no duty to retreat, and continuing action until danger ends, but found an involuntary manslaughter charge was not warranted by the evidence. However,

there was no discussion relating to the mutual combat charge. (App. pp. 576-94).

The trial court charged the following on self-defense and mutual combat:

Now the defendant in this case, ladies and gentlemen, has raised the defense of self-defense. Self-defense is a complete defense; and if it is established, you must find the defendant not guilty. The State has the burden of disproving self-defense by proof beyond a reasonable doubt. If you have a reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt after considering all of the evidence including the evidence of self-defense, then you must find the defendant not guilty. On the other hand, if you have no reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt after considering all of the evidence including the evidence of self-defense, then you must find the defendant guilty.

Now the following elements are required to establish self-defense. First the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. If the defendant's conduct was the type which was reasonably calculated to and did provoke a deadly assault, the defendant would be at fault in bringing on the difficulty and would not be entitled to an acquittal based on self-defense. If the defendant voluntarily participated in mutual combat for purposes other than protection, the killing of the victim would not be self-defense. This is true even if during the combat the defendant feared death or serious bodily injury. However, if before the killing is committed the defendant withdraws and tried in good faith to avoid further conflict and either by word or act makes that fact known to the victim, he would be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Now for mutual combat there must be a mutual intent and willingness to fight. This intent may be shown by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances surrounding the combat. In addition, it must be shown that both parties were armed with deadly weapon, with a deadly weapon.

(App. pp. 654-58).

Woodbury maintains trial counsel was deficient for failing to object to the trial court's mutual combat charge being read along with the self-defense charge. The crux of Woodbury's deficiency argument relies on State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003). Woodbury asserts Taylor stands for the proposition that mutual combat and self-defense should *never* be charged together. However, since Taylor, the South Carolina Court of Appeals has recognized

that self-defense and mutual combat are not mutually exclusive. See e.g., State v. Jackson, 384 S.C. 29, 38 n. 5, 681 S.E.2d 17, 21 n. 5 (2009) ("We do not suggest mutual combat and self-defense are mutually exclusive; rather, in Taylor, there was no evidence that the victim was willing to engage in mutual combat with Taylor.").

Recently, this Court found that the holding in Taylor must not be oversimplified and reduced to an interpretation "that it is improper for a trial court to charge both self-defense and mutual combat." Campbell v. State, ___ S.C. ___, 893 S.E.2d 492, 498 (Ct. App. October 18, 2023) (internal quotations omitted). Importantly, the Campbell court went on to find that "when evidence warrants a mutual combat charge, it may be charged to a jury even when read alongside a self-defense charge." Id. As previously discussed, Taylor is distinguishable from the instant case because there is evidence to support the mutual combat charge, and mutual combat and self-defense are not mutually exclusive; thus, trial counsel cannot be deficient for failing to object.

Furthermore, Woodbury was not prejudiced because the trial court's charge did not shift the burden of disproving self-defense away from the State. The trial court properly submitted to the jury the question of whether Woodbury was at fault in bringing on the difficulty. As previously stated, the trial court charged the jury with the elements of self-defense. In charging the first element of self-defense the trial court charged the law on mutual combat. The trial court charged that if the jury found Woodbury engaged in mutual combat, then the State had met its burden of disproving the first element of self-defense. The trial court's instructions did not shift the burden of proof away from the State; therefore, Woodbury was not prejudiced by the trial court charging mutual combat and self-defense.³

³ Woodbury contends that the post-conviction relief court did not address the duly raised issue of the mutual combat instruction being read within the self-defense jury instruction in its order of dismissal, and, accordingly, that he is entitled to a remand for the post-conviction relief court to

In conclusion, the post-conviction relief court correctly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the trial court charging mutual combat. Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

Because the post-conviction relief court properly determined Woodbury failed to establish any constitutional deprivations, this Court should deny certiorari. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues raised.